
 

 

 
 
 

A meeting of the 
 

West of England Combined Authority Audit Committee 
 

will be held on 
 
 

 
 

Date: Thursday, 17 November 2022 

Time: 10.30 am  

Place: The Orchard Room at Bailey’s Court Activity Centre, Baileys 
Court Rd, Bradley Stoke, Bristol BS32 8BH 

 
 
 
 
Notice of this meeting is given to members of the West of England Audit Committee as follows 
 
Cllr Geoff Gollop, Bristol City Council 
Cllr Mark Bradshaw, Bristol City Council 
Cllr Sarah Classick, Bristol City Council 
Cllr Jonathan Hucker, Bristol City Council 
Cllr Brenda Massey, Bristol City Council 
Cllr David Wilcox, Bristol City Council 
Cllr Rob Appleyard, Bath & North East Somerset Council 
Cllr Hal MacFie, Bath & North East Somerset Council 
Cllr John Ashe, South Gloucestershire Council 
Cllr John O'Neill, South Gloucestershire Council 
Cllr Matthew Riddle, South Gloucestershire Council 
Mark Hatcliffe, Independent Member of WECA Audit Committee 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Enquiries to: 
 
 
West of England Combined Authority Office 
Rivergate 3 
Temple Way 
Bristol, BS1 6ER 
Email: democratic.services@westofengland-ca.gov.uk 
Tel: 0117 456 6982 
 
 
 

Public Document Pack

mailto:democratic.services@westofengland-ca.gov.uk


 

 

West of England Combined Authority Committee 
Agenda 

 
YOU HAVE THE RIGHT TO:- 

• Attend all West of England Combined Authority, Committee and Sub-Committee meetings unless the 
business to be dealt with would disclose ‘confidential’ or ‘exempt’ information. 

• Inspect agendas and public reports five days before the date of the meeting 
• Inspect agendas, reports and minutes of the Combined Authority and all Combined Authority 

Committees and Sub-Committees for up to six years following a meeting. 
• Inspect background papers used to prepare public reports for a period public reports for a period of 

up to four years from the date of the meeting. (A list of background papers to a report is given at the 
end of each report.) A background paper is a document on which the officer has relied in writing the 
report. 

• Have access to the public register of names, addresses and wards of all Councillors sitting on 
Committees and Sub-Committees with details of the membership of all Committees and Sub-
Committees. 

• Have a reasonable number of copies of agendas and reports (relating to items to be considered in 
public) made available to the public attending meetings of the Combined Authority, Committees and 
Sub-Committees  

• Have access to a list setting out the decisions making powers the Combined Authority has delegated 
to their officers and the title of those officers.  

• Copy any of the documents mentioned above to which you have a right of access. There is a charge 
of 15p for each side of A4, subject to a minimum charge of £4. 

• For further information about this agenda or how the Authority works please contact Democratic 
Services, telephone 0117 42 86210 or e-mail: democratic.services@westofengland-ca.gov.uk 

 

 
OTHER LANGUAGES AND FORMATS 

This information can be made available in other 
languages, in large print, braille or on audio tape.  

Please phone 0117 42 86210 
 
Guidance for press and public attending this meeting 
 
The Openness of Local Government Bodies Regulations 2014 mean that any member of the public or press 
attending this meeting may take photographs, film or audio record proceedings and may report on the 
meeting including by use of social media (oral commentary is not permitted during the meeting as it would be 
disruptive). This will apply to the whole of the meeting except where there are confidential or exempt items, 
which may need to be considered in the absence of the press or public.  
 
If you intend to film or audio record this meeting please contact the Democratic Services Officer named on 
the front of the agenda papers beforehand, so that all necessary arrangements can be made. 
 
Some of our meetings are webcast. By entering the meeting room and using the public seating areas you are 
consenting to being filmed, photographed or recorded. At the start of the meeting, the Chair will confirm if all 
or part of the meeting is to be filmed. If you would prefer not to be filmed for the webcast, please make 
yourself known to the camera operators. 
 
An archived recording of the proceedings will also be available for viewing after the meeting. The Combined 
Authority may also use the images/sound recordings on its social media site or share with other 
organisations, such as broadcasters. 
 
To comply with the Data Protection Act 2018, we require the consent of parents or guardians before filming 
children or young people. For more information, please speak to the camera operator. 
 

mailto:democratic.services@westofengland-ca.gov.uk


 

 

  
1. EVACUATION PROCEDURE  

 In the event of a fire, please await direction from the venue staff who will help assist with 
the evacuation. Please do not return to the building until instructed to do so by the fire 
warden(s). 
  
 

 

 
2. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  

 To receive apologies for absence from Members and to note any substitute members 
present. 
 

 

 
3. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST UNDER THE LOCALISM ACT 2011  

 Members who consider that they have an interest to declare are asked to: a) State the 
item number in which they have an interest, b) The nature of the interest, c) Whether the 
interest is a disclosable pecuniary interest, non-disclosable pecuniary interest or non-
pecuniary interest. Any Member who is unsure about the above should seek advice from 
the Monitoring Officer prior to the meeting in order to expedite matters at the meeting 
itself.  
 

 

 
4. ELECTION OF VICE-CHAIR FOR MUNICIPAL YEAR 2022/23  

 The Audit Committee to elect a Vice-Chair from amongst its members for Municipal Year 
2022/23 (item deferred from the last meeting). 
 

 

 
5. CHAIR'S ANNOUNCEMENTS  

 To receive any announcements from the Chair of the Audit Committee. 
 

 
 

6. MINUTES 5 - 10 

 To endorse and ratify the minutes of the inquorate meeting held on 12 October 2022. 
 

 
 

7. ITEMS FROM THE PUBLIC (QUESTIONS, STATEMENTS AND PETITIONS)  

 WRITTEN PUBLIC QUESTIONS (written procedure) 
  
1. Any member of the public can submit a maximum of two written questions in 
advance of this meeting. 
  
2. The deadline for the submission of questions is 5.00 pm, at least 3 clear working 
days ahead of a meeting. For this meeting, the deadline for questions is 5.00 pm on 
Friday 11 November 2022. 
  
3. Questions should be addressed to the Chair of the meeting and e-mailed 
to democratic.services@westofengland-ca.gov.uk 
  
4. Under the direction of the Chair, wherever possible, written replies to questions 
will be sent to questioners by the end of the working day prior to the meeting. 
  
5. Please note - under the Combined Authority’s committee procedures, there is no 
opportunity for oral supplementary questions to be asked at committee meetings. 
  
6. The written questions and replies will be circulated to committee members in 
advance of the meeting and published on the Combined Authority website. 
  
PUBLIC STATEMENTS 
  
1. Any member of the public may submit a written statement (or petition) to this 
meeting. 
  

 

mailto:democratic.services@westofengland-ca.gov.uk


 

 

2. Please note that one statement per individual is permitted. 
  
3. Statements must be submitted in writing and received by the deadline of 12 noon 
on the working day before the meeting. For this meeting, the deadline for statements 
is 12 noon on Wednesday 16 November 2022. Statements should be emailed 
to democratic.services@westofengland-ca.gov.uk 
  
4. Statements will be listed for the meeting in the order of receipt. All statements 
will be sent to committee members in advance of the meeting and published on the 
Combined Authority website. 
  
5. Please note: 
  
If any member of the public wishes to attend the meeting to orally present their 
statement, they are asked please to notify the Combined Authority’s Democratic 
Services team of this at the point when their statement is submitted and by 12 noon 
on the working day before the meeting at the very latest. 
  
For those presenting their statements at the meeting, up to 3 minutes ‘speaking 
time’ is permitted for each statement. The total time available for the public session 
at this meeting is 30 minutes. 
  
  

8. CONSIDERATION OF THE RECOMMENDATIONS OF THE AUTHORITY'S 
EXTERNAL AUDITORS 

11 - 52 

 To consider the written recommendations of the Auditors VfM report on Governance 
issued by the Combined Authority’s External Auditor. 
  
 

 

 
9. THE AUDIT FINDINGS FOR THE WEST OF ENGLAND COMBINED AUTHORITY 53 - 88 

 The Committee is requested to discuss the key findings and other matters arising from 
the statutory audit of the West of England Combined Authority for year ending 31 March 
2022. 
 

 

 
10. INTERNAL AUDIT UPDATE 89 - 108 

 To Update the Committee on Internal Audit work in 2022/23.  A response from 
management is attached at Appendix 2. 
 

 

 
Next meeting: Monday, 12 December 2022 
 
 

mailto:democratic.services@westofengland-ca.gov.uk


 

 

West of England Combined Authority Audit Committee  
 
Wednesday, 12 October 2022, 10:30am 
Council Chamber - Bristol City Council  
 
Present: 
Cllr Geoff Gollop, Bristol City Council 
Cllr Sarah Classick, Bristol City Council 
Cllr Brenda Massey, Bristol City Council 
Cllr Keith Burchell, South Gloucestershire Council 
(as substitute for Cllr Matthew Riddle) 
 

Cllr David Wilcox, Bristol City Council 
Cllr John Ashe, South Gloucestershire Council 
Cllr Steve Smith, Bristol City Council (as 
substitute for Cllr Jonathan Hucker) 

Officers In Attendance: 
Stephen Gerrard, Interim Director of Legal and 
Democratic Services 
Richard Ennis, Interim Director of Investment and 
Corporate Services 
Selonge Russell, Head of Finance and 
Procurement 
 
 

Steve Finnegan, Financial Accountant 
Jon Roberts, External Auditor, Grant Thornton 

Apologies: 
Cllr Mark Bradshaw, Bristol City Council 
Cllr Jonathan Hucker, Bristol City Council 
Cllr Rob Appleyard, Bath & North East Somerset 
Council 
Cllr Hal MacFie, Bath & North East Somerset 
Council 
 

Cllr John O'Neill, South Gloucestershire Council 
Cllr Matthew Riddle, South Gloucestershire 
Council 
Mark Hatcliffe, Independent Member of Audit 
Committee 
 

 
Minutes 

  
1   Evacuation Procedure  
 The evacuation procedure was noted.  
2   Committee Membership & Apologies for absence  
 The Membership of the West of England Combined Authority Audit Committee for Municipal 

Year 2022/23 was noted. 
  
Apologies for absence had been received from: 
Cllr Mark Bradshaw, Cllr John O’Neill. Cllr Hal McFie, Cllr Rob Appleyard, Mark Hatcliffe, Cllr 
Jonathan Hucker (Cllr Steve Smith attended as substitute) and Cllr Matthew Riddle (Cllr Keith 
Burchell attended as substitute) 
  
The Monitoring Officer advised that as the Committee was meeting with less than the number 
of members present to be quorate decisions could be ratified by the Committee and endorsed 
by the next meeting.  

3   Election of Chair for Municipal Year 2022/23  
 The nomination of Cllr Geoff Gollop to be elected as Chair for the West of England Combined 

Authority Audit Committee for Municipal Year 2022/23 was proposed by Cllr Steve Smith and 
seconded by Cllr John Ashe.  There were no other nominees.  The nomination was agreed by 
the Committee 
  
Resolved: 
  

That Cllr Geoff Gollop be elected as Chair of the West of England Combined Authority 

Page 5

Agenda Item 6



 
 

 

Audit Committee for Municipal Year 2022/23. 
  
   

4   Election of Vice-Chair for Municipal Year 2022/23  
 As the meeting was inquorate the election of a Vice-Chair for Municipal Year 2022/23 was 

deferred to a future meeting.  
5   Declarations of Interest under the Localism Act 2011  
 There were no declarations of interest declared under the Localism Act 2011.  
6   Terms of Reference  
 The Terms of Reference for the Committee were noted.  
7   Minutes  
 The minutes of the meeting held on 28 April 2022 were agreed as a correct record and signed 

by the Chair.  
8   Items from the Public  
 Two questions had been received from one individual.  The responses to these questions had 

been circulated prior to the meeting and published on the Authority’s website. 
  

Two statements had been received from Members of the Public.  These statements had been 
circulated prior to the meeting and published on the Authority’s website.  No member of the 
public was in attendance at the meeting.   

  
 
9   Petitions  
 No petitions had been received.  
10   VALUE FOR MONEY ARRANGEMENTS (2020-21)  
 The Committee received a paper providing an overview of Grant Thornton’s findings to date 

on the financial sustainability objective as prescribed by the National Audit Office (NAO) Code 
of Audit Practice.  The Committee were requested to note the report.  Jon Roberts from the 
Authority’s External Auditors Grant Thornton was present to answer questions from Members. 
  
The Chair of the Committee, Councillor Geoff Gollop, reiterated his frustration with the delay 
in the Committee receiving the report and the fact that the report was still incomplete.  He 
asked that the following statement be included in the minutes of the meeting: 
  
“I wish to draw to the Committees attention my concerns about the VFM report. I should add 
that I have no concern about the information presented, only about what is missing. 
I have expressed at our past meetings and briefings my concerns about governance, decision 
making, frictions within WECA and wider management issues. Most of these concerns are 
shared by audit committee and have also been raised by the WECA scrutiny committee. 
I believed that the VFM report was going to address these issues and one specific decision 
that I was concerned about and have pressed for that report to be made available to audit 
committee on a number of occasions. However, meetings have been rearranged and/ or 
cancelled and we are still no further forward. After our April meeting, I was told that the report 
was expected soon but would have recommendations that should go straight to the WECA 
Committee. I asked that it should come to audit as a matter of urgency and I asked to be kept 
informed. 
 
I was surprised to discover from the GT report that officers have had the report for almost 4 
months before this meeting ( 20th June 2022 per Page 4 of the report page 16 of our pack) , 
but neither I nor the audit committee have seen the draft as presented then, or copies 
amended to show officer response.  I believe audit committee needs an explanation of why it 
still has not seen this report and to understand the delay. We should also be able to track 
changes made to the report. 
 

Page 6



 
 

 

Of equal concern to me, and I hope to members of the audit committee, is the agenda and 
agenda planning. Because I was concerned about this issue, I asked for a meeting to discuss 
the agenda before it was published. This is important in the context of the VFM report. I had 
believed from our previous discussion that it was coming in full to this meeting, but only knew 
that it was not after the meeting papers were published.  
It should be entirely appropriate for the chair to be included in discussing the potential content 
of the agenda. I very much believe audit committee should be a working together of members 
and officers for the good of the organisation.  
 
Returning to the VFM report, I believe this committee needs to know why the report has been 
delayed and when it will be published. If the report has significant implications, we need to 
know why it has taken so long and how improvements have been made and lessons learned. 
If there are no significant findings it is difficult to understand how there can be any justification 
for the delay”. 
  
  
Jon Roberts, Grant Thornton stated in response that the report had been embargoed until 
such time that the Auditors had given permission for the report to be released.  There had 
also been a number of sensitive issues that the auditors had been dealing with that had 
resulted in delays, including a consultation process across the summer period involving senior 
managers across the Authority who had been given an opportunity to respond.  He believed 
that the final Value for Money report would be ready in time for the Committee’s consideration 
at its meeting in November 2022. 
  
The following comments were raised: 
  

       Members requested that the report be published in such a way to allow a text search 
and that a glossary be included.  Jon Roberts stated that he would ask that the final 
report in November 2002 be made more accessible; 

       Grant Thornton was keen to hear views regarding any specific project management 
reviews to be undertaken. 

Resolved: 
  
            That the report be noted.  

11   EXTERNAL AUDIT PROGRESS REPORT AND SECTOR UPDATE  
 This Committee received a report on the progress in delivering Grant Thornton’s 

responsibilities as our external auditors. The report also includes a summary of emerging 
national and developments.  It was noted also that the auditing of accounts process had 
commenced and that there had been no issues of significance identified so far.   
  
It was noted further that due to changes in the Audit market and the increased demands on 
auditing public bodies there would be a number of changes in the market.  Although Grant 
Thornton was contracted to carry out the Authority’s Auditing for this year the contract had 
been tendered thereafter by the PSAA for the next 5 years and we are awaiting the outcome 
of this.  There were currently six firms that could be contracted to provide the service in the 
future although there was likely to be a significant increase in fees. 
  
Resolved: 
  
            That the report be noted. 
   

12   CIPFA'S UPDATED POSITION STATEMENT: AUDIT COMMITTEES IN LOCAL 
AUTHORITIES 2022  

 The Committee received a report that presented the Chartered Institute of Public Finance & 

Page 7



 
 

 

Accountancy (CIPFA) Position Statement: Audit Committees in Local Authorities and Police 
2022 for comments. The 2022 Position Statement set out the purpose, model, core functions 
and membership of an audit committee. Key details for each of these areas are summarised 
below: 
  

       Purpose – the statement defined the purpose of Audit Committees; 
       Independent and Effective Model - The audit committee should be established so that 

it was independent of executive decision making and able to provide objective 
oversight. CIPFA recommended that each authority audit committee should include at 
least two co-opted independent members to provide appropriate technical expertise; 

       Core Functions - The Position Statement noted that the core functions of an audit 
committee were to provide oversight of a range of core governance and accountability 
arrangements; 

       Membership - The Statement set out guidance regarding the membership of an audit 
committee; 

       Engagement and outputs - The audit committee should be established and supported 
to enable it to address the full range of responsibilities within its terms of reference 
and to generate planned outputs. 

  
The Updated CIPFA Position Statement was attached as Appendix 1.  The Committee raised 
the following points: 
  

       The Authority was requested that each individual project should be assessed in terms 
of its carbon output.  There was a risk to the prospect of meeting net zero targets 
unless the monitoring was effective.  There was possibly a role for the Overview & 
Scrutiny Committee in this matter; 

       The Committee stated that it was important that there was a mix of membership of the 
Committee in terms of some with financial backgrounds and others with different 
experiences but with a way of monitoring the Committee’s effectiveness (with 
guidance from Internal or External Auditors) and possibly reporting its activities to the 
Combined Authority Committee on a regular basis.  A stable membership was also 
desirable so that members could build up their experience of the technical issues 
discussed; 

       It was noted that CIPFA would be contacted to offer independent training to Members 
and Grant Thornton were able to offer training sessions to Members if needed as an 
alternative option ; 

       Members asked that an update on the recruitment process for a second independent 
member be brought to the next meeting and agreed in principle that a second 
independent member would be desirable; 

  
Resolved: 
  

That the Committee’s views and comments on CIPFA’s new Position Statement be 
noted and placed on record. 

   
13   DRAFT STATUTORY ACCOUNTS 2021/22  
 Members of the Audit Committee received a report together with an accompanying 

presentation, setting out the West of England Combined Authority Annual Draft Statement of 
Accounts for 2021-22 for their review and approval. 
  
The following comments were received: 
  

       The value of the investments were monitored monthly.  Due to a rise in interest rates 
there were no concerns currently.   The External Auditors had asked their technical 

Page 8



 
 

 

team to look at the value of the pension fund due to the economic uncertainty as this 
was an important part of the accounts; 

       Members were keen to find out any feedback from participants in the Future Bright 
scheme, especially if businesses were to fold in the economic conditions; 

       In terms of the Transforming Cities fund the position had been stated as at 31 March 
2021.  Work was ongoing with the Local Authorities to ensure that the all the 
allocated monies were spent, including meetings that discussed each project and to 
ensure delivery was met with additional inflationary pressures.  A report to the 
Combined Authority Committee would update the position.  The Interim Director of 
Investment and Corporate Services could provide an update to a future meeting if 
necessary; 

       Members were concerned about the risks involved in running bus services especially 
how those risks were being transferred from the private operators to the Authority.  It 
was asked that the risk register and the work programme of upcoming items be 
included on the agenda; 

  
Resolved: 
  

That the comments raised on the West of England Combined Authority Annual Draft 
Statement of Accounts for 2021-22 (as detailed in Appendix 1) be noted.  

 Date of Next Meeting: Thursday, 10 November 2022 [subsequently rearranged for 17 
November 2022] 

 

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

REPORT WEST OF ENGLAND COMBINED AUTHORITY 
COMMITTEE 

DATE:  17th November 2022 
REPORT TITLE:  EXTERNAL AUDITORS VFM 

REPORT ON GOVERNANCE 
DIRECTOR: STEPHEN GERRARD – 

MONITORING OFFICER 
 
Purpose of Report  

To consider the written recommendations of the Auditors VfM report on Governance 
issued by the Combined Authority’s External Auditor. 

Recommendation 

The Combined Authority is recommended to:   
 

1. Fully accept the findings of the report and the external auditor’s 
recommendations.   
 

2. Note that the written recommendations SR1, SR2 and SR3 have been 
identified by the external auditor as Section 24 Local Audit and 
Accountability Act 2014 statutory recommendations as detailed in the 
report. 

 
3. Note the progress that has been made and the range of corrective actions 

that have already been taken to date as detailed in appendix 1.   
 

4. Note that the financial issue detailed in the report for the employee exit 
payment has already been considered and accounted for in the 2021/22 
draft published accounts. 

 
5. Consider and agree the action plan detailed at appendix 1 to this report, 

that includes a response to each of the external auditor’s 
recommendations. 

 
6. Agree that the action plan be presented to both the Audit Committee and 

the Scrutiny & Overview Committee at their next meetings to consider and 

Page 11

Agenda Item 8

https://uk.practicallaw.thomsonreuters.com/Document/IC86E67E08BBF11E39C61D5D16AE25757/View/FullText.html?originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&vr=3.0&rs=PLUK1.0&contextData=(sc.CommentaryUKLink)
https://uk.practicallaw.thomsonreuters.com/Document/IC86E67E08BBF11E39C61D5D16AE25757/View/FullText.html?originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&vr=3.0&rs=PLUK1.0&contextData=(sc.CommentaryUKLink)


review from their differing constitutional positions and report any feedback 
to the Combined Authority Committee.   

 
7. Request that Combined Authority Committee receives a report that 

includes any feedback on the action plan from the Scrutiny & Overview 
Committee and Audit Committee and provides further detail on the delivery 
of the Action Plan at a future meeting.  

 
8. Note that the West of England Combined Authority will continue to 

maintain an open dialogue with the external auditor, Chair of the Audit 
Committee, and Chair of Overview and Scrutiny Committee to keep them 
appraised of the progress in implementing the Action Plan.  
 

Voting arrangements 

Decision requires majority agreement of Committee Members in attendance, or their 
substitutes (one vote representing each Authority) including the West of England 
Combined Authority Mayor. 

1. Background 
 
1.1. This report relates to the 2020/21 External Audit of the West of England 

Combined Authority. During this work the external auditor (Grant Thornton) 
determined that some issues required further consideration. Grant Thornton’s 
work focused on investigating those issues, the results of which are set out in 
their “VfM Report on Governance”. The full report is attached at Appendix 2. 
 

1.2. The report contains 9 recommendations, of which 3 are identified as statutory 
recommendations. Statutory recommendations are written recommendations 
to the Combined Authority made by the Auditor under section 24 (Schedule 7) 
of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014. A recommendation under 
Schedule 7 requires the Combined Authority to discuss and respond publicly 
to the report. This discussion and response is taking place at this Meeting, 
which is being held within one month of receiving the report and written 
recommendations as required by the Act.  

 
1.3. The Combined Authority must decide if the recommendations are accepted 

and what, if any actions will be taken in response to them. 
 

1.4. The Action Plan at appendix 1 sets out the actions that the Combined Authority 
proposes to take in response to all the recommendations made in the report, 
including the 3 statutory recommendations. 

 
2. Issues for Consideration 

 
2.1. The Auditor’s recommendations centre around the following themes: 

 

a) The current state of professional relationships between the Combined 
Authority Mayor and the representatives of the other members of the 
Combined Authority, and between Chief Officers. 

Page 12



 
b) The future management structure of the Combined Authority. 

 
c) The role of statutory officers in circumstances when a potential conflict is 

identified. 
 

d) The circumstances when it is acceptable to seek legal advice without 
reference to the Monitoring Officer. 
 

2.2. The issues raised in the auditor’s report relate to a period of time over 14 
months ago when the Combined Authority was adjusting to the election of a 
new Mayor and dealing with the additional challenge of continued Covid 
restrictions and remote working. Many of these issues were recognised by 
the Combined Authority at the time and action has been taken to address 
them as outlined in the Action Plan attached at Appendix 1. 
 

2.3. The report concludes that the day-to-day business of the Combined Authority 
has continued effectively, that significant new funding has been brought into 
the region and the Combined Authority has continued to deliver benefit to 
residents. 
 

2.4. Over the last 12 months the Combined Authority has secured £910m 
additional funding for the region; supported 13,000 residents with training and 
careers support and supported 1,373 businesses through the Growth Hub. 
Specific successes have included: 
 

a) £540m through the City Region Sustainable Transport Settlement the 
highest amount of funding per head awarded in England  
 

b) £95m from Homes England for the Bristol Temple Quarter Regeneration 
Programme, which will deliver some 2,400 new homes alongside a 
significant upgrade to Bristol Temple Meads Station.  

 

c) Passing the Gateway Review for the Investment Fund, unlocking the next 
tranche of £150m for the 5-year period to 2026.   
 

d) Combined Committee unanimous investment decisions in respect of The 
North Fringe, Quantum Technology and Hydrogen Sustainable Transport 
in driving forward matters of regional, local and national importance 
 

e) regional Climate and Ecological Strategy and Action Plan including a 
Green Recovery Fund of up to £50m to support projects including on 
green energy and nature recovery / pollinator support.  
 

f) regional Cultural Action Plan and agreement to £1m of investment in the 
sector which has already levered in an additional £1.5m from DCMS 
through Create Growth Programme – only 1 of 6 in country  
 

2.5  The Action Plan sets out how the Combined Authority proposes to build on 
the action already underway to address the points highlighted by the Audit 

Page 13



report. Committee members are asked to consider and agree the Action Plan 
which includes a response to each of the external auditor’s recommendations. 
 

2.6 Overall accountability for the delivery of the Action Plan will rest with the 
Combined Authority Committee. Following this Combined Authority Meeting, 
the Action Plan will be submitted to both the Scrutiny and Overview 
Committee and Audit Committee to review it.  Those Committees will submit 
their feedback in the form of a report to the Committee at a subsequent 
meeting. 

 
3. Comments from the Monitoring Officer 

3.1 Section 5 of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989 provides that it is the 
responsibility of the Monitoring officer to report formally to the Authority on any 
proposal, decision or omission by the council which has given rise to, or is likely 
to, or would give rise to the contravention of any enactment or rule of law or 
statutory code of practice. 

 
3.2 As the Monitoring officer I do not feel that the circumstances trigger my duties 

under a Section 5.   While there was a difference of legal opinion, an 
acceptable approach was agreed.    

 

3.3 I refer to the observations of the Auditor at various points in the report, 
including: 

 
o p. 23 “It was therefore reasonable from the Chief Executives 

perspective to believe that involving those individuals in a discussion 
on severance terms for a senior colleague could unfairly influence any 
future negotiations about their own departure and could result in a 
conflict of interest.” 

o “We are satisfied that it was reasonable for the Chief Executive to 
believe there was a potential conflict of interest that needed to be 
managed relating to both statutory officers.” 

o P 24 “We accept that the Chief Executive was acting in good faith and 
had taken significant action to ensure the legality of the process.” 

o P27 “We have reviewed the initial report developed by HR, and the 
legal advice that was sought the assumptions that had been 
made.  These steps were comprehensive, professional and 
reasonable.”  

I am further supported in that view in the light of the fact the Auditor did not 
otherwise intervene, issued no advisory notice or seek judicial review. 
 

4. Comments from the Chief Finance Officer (S73 Officer) 
 
4.1. Having considered the matter, I have concluded there is no requirement to 

issue a section 114 (2) report. 
 

Page 14



4.2. The Local Government Finance Act, places certain responsibilities on the 
CFO.  

 

4.3. Section 114 (2) requires that the chief finance officer (S73 officer) to “make a 
report under this section if it appears to him that the authority, a committee of 
the authority, a person holding any office or employment under the authority:  

a) has made or is about to make a decision which involves or would 
involve the authority incurring expenditure, which is unlawful,  

b) has taken or is about to take a course of action which, if pursued 
to its conclusion, would be unlawful and likely to cause a loss or 
deficiency on the part of the authority, or  

c) is about to enter an item of account the entry of which is 
unlawful”.  

d) Section 114 (2) requires consultation with the Head of Paid 
Service and the Monitoring Officer (MO) which has been 
undertaken 

e) Section 114 (2a) also obliges the S73 officer to send a copy of 
the report to the Combined Authority’s auditors and to every 
member of the authority.  

 

4.4. The Chief Executive received advice from Bevan Brittan that stated in relation 
to the lawfulness of the termination payment of £58.784 made up of £36,950 
settlement payment plus £21,834 pay in lieu of notice that draws the 
conclusion that a reasonable argument can be made to support the position 
that the Chief Executive had authority to agree the settlement.  
 

4.5. Indeed, the External Auditors legal advice from Bates Wells was “Whilst the 
matter (of whether the Employments and Appointments Committee or the 
Chief Executive) (having the authority) is arguable either way, given a court 
would have to come down one side or other on the issue, we take the view 
that the better interpretation is that the Committee had the appropriate 
delegated authority – the outcome of a court action would however be 
uncertain. As such, we have recommended the Authority approve (ratify) the 
severance arrangements and payment. Given the lack of clarity, and the fact 
that the Chief Executive obtained legal advice supporting her position, we do 
not suggest that an advisory notice would be advisable in this situation” 

 

4.6. In coming to my view, I have also been minded to also consider the fact that: 

a) The External Auditors report concludes in section 5 that the severance 
payment was approved at Committee and concerns over its lawfulness 
were largely mitigated.  

Page 15



b) The Monitoring Officer does not feel the need to issue a Section 5 report. 

c) The Combined Authority has already recognised the full cost of the exit 
payment in the published draft accounts 2021/22 . 

 

5. STATUTORY RESPONSE TO THE REPORT IN THE PUBLIC INTEREST   
 

5.1. Written Recommendations are issued under the provisions of the Local Audit 
and Accountability Act 2014. The Act sets out a number of statutory 
requirements that a Local Authority must comply with following the 
publication of the Report. 
 

5.2. The Combined Authority is required under the Act to consider the 
recommendations of the Report and decide what action to take in response in 
public at a dedicated Combined Authority meeting held within one month 
from publication.  

 

6. Publicising the Report  
 
6.1.  Following receipt of the Report, the Combined Authority is required to 

ensure that it is brought to the attention of public, elected members, its 
partner organisations and stakeholders.  
 

6.2. The report is publicised on the homepage of the Combined Authority’s 
website, which provides a link to the detailed dedicated webpage. 

 

6.3. The Combined Authority has also proactively contacted partner 
organisations to share the report such as the Local Enterprise Partnership 
and the Combined Authority’s regulators.  

 

6.4. Full copies of the report were sent to the relevant Members of Parliament.  
 

6.5. The report was sent to all members of the Combined Authority’s Audit 
Committee, including independent Members.  

 

6.6. All Combined Authority staff have been briefed.  
 

6.7. The external auditor has issued the Secretary of State for Levelling Up, 
Housing and Communities with a copy of the report. 

 

7. Responding to the Report  
 
7.1.  Within a period of one month beginning with the day upon which the 

Combined Authority received the report, the Combined Authority is required 
to hold a Combined Authority Meeting (this meeting) to consider the report. 

Page 16



 
7.2. In considering this report, Members of the Combined Authority are asked to 

vote on the recommendations, response and action plan or amend these as 
they see fit. 
 

7.3. The notice includes all relevant details of this meeting to comply with the 
Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 requirements. In addition, the 
agenda and supporting papers for this meeting have been published to 
comply with the Local Government Act 1972 requirements. 
 

7.4. Following the Combined Authority Meeting, the Combined Authority is 
required to publish a public notice, approved by the external auditor, that 
summarises the outcome of the meeting. That notice will be published in 
both the local press and on the Combined Authority’s dedicated webpage 
following this meeting. 

 

7.5. In considering the Report and the proposed action plan, Members may also 
wish to reflect upon their personal responsibilities and the Combined 
Authority’s constitutional and legal responsibilities, under two further areas. 
These are the Seven Principles of Public Life, better known as the Nolan 
Principles, and the Combined Authority’s “best value” duty under the Local 
Government Act 1999 – details of which can be read here:          
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/revised-best-value-statutory 
guidance. 

 

7.6. The Local Government Act 1999 introduced the duty of “best value” for all 
local authorities. This duty requires Combined Authorities to “make 
arrangements to secure continuous improvement in the way in which its 
functions are exercised having a regard to a combination of economy, 
efficiency and effectiveness”. 
 

 
8. Finance Implications, including economic impact assessment where 

appropriate: 
 

8.1. the costs of the exit payment of £58,784 have been fully accounted for and 
disclosed in the draft 2021/22 published accounts. 

 

8.2. There will be costs associated with the implementation of the 
recommendations detailed within the report and for the production of the 
external auditor’s report. 

 

8.3. The costs of responding to this report are yet to be finalised and an update 
regarding any associated costs will be presented to a future meeting of 
Cabinet for consideration and approval if necessary. 

 

8.4. The External Auditor has been asked to and is yet to provide at the time of 

Page 17



writing this report, the fees that will be charged to the West of England 
Combined Authority either as incurred to date or a forecast total cost through 
to completion, The External Auditor is gathering this information together.  

 
Richard Ennis – Interim Director of Investment and Corporate Services 

 
9. Legal Implications: 

 
9.1. This report to Combined Authority sets out the statutory background to the 

auditor’s report and the obligations falling on the Combined Authority as a 
consequence. In particular, the Combined Authority is reminded that it has a 
duty to consider and respond to the report as detailed in section 3 of this 
report. 
 

9.2. The written recommendations are issued under the provisions of the Local 
Audit and Accountability Act 2014 (“the Act"). The Combined Authority must 
comply with the requirements of the Act in responding to the report. 
 

9.3. In particular Schedule 7 paragraph 4 on the Act provides that as soon as 
reasonably practicable after receiving the report the Combined Authority must: 

 

a) publish the report and a notice identifying the subject matter of the report 
on the Combined Authority’s website.   
 

b) permit the public to inspect the report at all reasonable times without 
payment, make a copy of it, or any part of it, and be supplied with a copy 
of it, or any part of it, on payment of a reasonable sum. 
 

c) supply a copy of the report to each of its members and its auditor panel 
(if it has one).  
 

9.4. Paragraph 5 of Schedule 7 further requires the Combined Authority to 
consider the report or recommendation(s) at a meeting held before the end of 
the period of one month beginning with the day on which it was sent to the 
Combined Authority. At that meeting the Combined Authority must decide:   
 

a) whether the report requires the Combined Authority to take any action; 
or   

b) whether the recommendation(s) is/are to be accepted; and   
c) what if any action to take in response to the report or 

recommendation(s).  
 

9.5. The recommendations and proposed actions by the Combined Authority are 
set out in the body of this report and accompanying Action Plan.   
 

9.6. Paragraph 9 of Schedule 7 goes on to provide that information contained in 
the Report is not to be treated as exempt information under the Local 
Government Act 1972.  

Page 18



 
9.7. After considering the Report and its response to it, the Combined Authority 

must notify the external auditor of its decisions and publish a notice containing 
a summary of those decisions which has been approved by the external 
auditor. 
 

9.8. The recommendations seek to comply with statutory requirements following 
the issue of written recommendations by the Combined Authority’s external 
auditors. The actions recommended also seek to improve the governance of 
the Combined Authority in line with the Combined Authority’s Constitution and 
promote the Combined Authority’s statutory duty of best value and continuous 
improvement.  
  

Stephen Gerrard, Interim Director of Legal Services & Monitoring Officer   
 
10. Human Resources Implications 

 
10.1. As noted in the report, the Audit recommendations have been accepted, 

and an action plan for addressing the recommendations is attached as an 
Appendix.  
 

10.2. In respect of the recommendation to review the leadership structure, as 
noted in the action plan, the structure of the Authority is regularly reviewed, 
and is currently functioning well. Should any changes be made to the structure 
in the future, these will be conducted in full accordance with HR policy and 
best practice.  

 

10.3. In respect of the recommendation to ensure that regular performance 
reviews of senior staff are carried out and are documented fully, this has 
already been happening and will continue to take place, as identified within 
the Action Plan. 

 

10.4. In respect of the Auditor’s comment on undertaking staff surveys, regular 
surveys already take place, with the most recent one (conducted in October 
2022) demonstrating positive results for the Combined Authority. Surveys will 
continue to be conducted on a regular basis, with appropriate actions taken 
where necessary.  

 
 

Alex Holly, Head of People and Assets 

 

Appendices: 

Appendix 1 – Action Plan in response to Audit 

Appendix 2 Grant Thornton’s “VfM Report on Governance” 

  
  

Page 19



 
 
 
West of England Combined Authority Contact:  
   
Report Author  Contact Details  
  S Gerrard 
   

  Director Law and Governance 

    
 

Page 20



Appendix 1 
Action Plan in response to Audit  
 
SR1  The Mayor and the UA leaders have participated in a mediation process led by an agreed 

regional chair.  This is undertaken under agreed confidentiality to allow a full and frank 
exchange between the participants.  This work is ongoing and the leaders and the Mayor 
have all been engaged.  
The results of these sessions will culminate in a number of workshops to build and 
consolidate the work.  
It is anticipated that one of the outcomes of the workshops will be a protocol for future 
working.  It is proposed that all the Chief Executives will continue to engage in this work at 
the appropriate time, including developing regional priorities and strategy.  

SR2  Consultation and engagement processes have developed over the last year, particularly 
since the lifting of the last of the Covid restrictions. The Mayor now meets on a regular basis 
one to one with the leaders of the UAs.  The CA Ch.Ex meets with her UA counterparts one-
to-one on a similar basis.  In addition, there are monthly meetings of all the CEOs from the 
CA  and the UAs.  There is engagement with the respective service areas in the CA and UAs 
and agreement on proposals are reached where possible at an operational level before 
reference to CEOs or members.  
  
An officer delivery board has been established and meets twice a month to review progress 
on agreed projects and to provide challenge and support to project to ensure timely 
delivery.  

SR3   A protocol has been prepared and shared earlier this year with the Auditor and Chair of 
Audit, which has been designed to manage the rare cases of conflict of interest by statutory 
officers.  This will be posted on the council’s website. This is designed to reflect the unusual 
circumstances that in a small authority there may not always be another employee able to 
discharge the role of deputy.  

KR1  The management structure is kept under constant review.  The current management team 
has been substantially refreshed since late 2021 and is functioning well as can be seen from 
the CA’s achievements over the last 12 months.  Following the work on regional priorities 
and objectives a revised management structure, if appropriate, will considered and brought 
to the CA Committee in the new year.  

KR2  The current monitoring officer has agreed arrangements to ensure that officers engaging 
legal support do it within an agreed framework  and external firms understand their 
obligations to the CA, including when to escalate issues directly to the Monitoring Officer.    

IR1  See SR1  
IR2 Recognising that any constitutional changes require the unanimous support of the Mayor 

and there UA representatives, proposals for possible changes will be consulted upon with a 
view to bring acceptable proposals to a meeting in the new year.  

IR3  These have been recorded this year and will continue to be so.  The requirement for 
continuing professional development and wider engagement with the professional 
community will continue to be a requirement for all officers and will continue to form part 
of any performance review.  

IR4  Agreed as currently appropriate and actioned  
 

 

Page 21



This page is intentionally left blank



P
age 23



Public

 

 

P
age 24



Public

•

•

P
age 25



Public

P
age 26



Public

Area of Focus Audit consideration Key Findings

Wider governance

P
age 27



Public

Area of Focus Audit consideration Key Findings

Severance issue

P
age 28



Public

Area of Focus Audit consideration Key Findings

Severance issue

P
age 29



Public

P
age 30



P
age 31



Public

The Mayor and members of the Combined Authority represented by the Council Leaders, must commit to improving their working 
relationship and demonstrate that significant progress has been made within a reasonable timeframe to be determined by the 
Mayor and Combined Authority. This should include a role for independent mediation and the constructive consideration of advice 
arising from this process (SR1).

P
age 32



Public

A formal protocol should be agreed between member organisations within the Combined Authority to commit to consultation on 
key proposals, that they should define, at an earlier stage. Combined Authority members should engage effectively in this process, 
to help mitigate points of contention before they are published and debated in public. This should include a commitment to deliver 
proposals on a reasonable timetable.

P
age 33



Public

In future, in all circumstances, including where there is a potential conflict of interest affecting individual statutory officers, 
adequate steps must be taken to ensure the statutory duties of these officers is effectively discharged (SR3).

P
age 34



Public

The future management structure of the Combined Authority should be reviewed in order to ensure it is fit for purpose in the 
context of new funding awards and strategic priorities and this must include appropriate consultation and agreement by the CA
Committee.

P
age 35



Public

The Constitution of the Combined Authority should be revised to define the conditions under which it is acceptable for other 
officers and members to seek independent legal advice, without reference to the Monitoring Officer and/or Head of Legal Services.

P
age 36



Public

Recommendation Report 
Section

Management Comment

1

5

5

P
age 37



Public

•

•

•

•

•

•

P
age 38



P
age 39



Public

•

•

•

•

•
•

•

•

•

P
age 40



Public

P
age 41



Public

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

P
age 42



Public

•

•

•
•
•
•
•
•
•

•

•

•

•

•

P
age 43



Public

•

•

 

 

P
age 44



Public

 

•

•

P
age 45



Public

P
age 46



Public

•

•

•

•

P
age 47



Public

P
age 48



Public

•

P
age 49



P
age 50



Public

P
age 51



P
age 52



 

 

 

WEST OF ENGLAND AUDIT COMMITTEE 

17 NOVEMBER 2022 

REPORT SUMMARY SHEET 

AUDIT COMMITTEE– THE AUDIT FINDINGS FOR THE WEST OF ENGLAND COMBINED 
AUTHORITY 

Purpose 

This paper provides the West of England Audit Committee with Grant Thornton’s Audit 
Findings for the West of England Combined Authority for year ending 31 March 2022 
 

Summary 

This report includes the following key information: 
 

• Financial Statements 
• Significant Risks 
• Key Judgements and Estimates 
• Value for Money Arrangements 

 
Appendices:  

• A – Action Plan – Audit of Financial Statements.  
• B – Follow-Up of Prior Year Recommendation.  
• C – Audit Adjustments 
• D – Fees 
• E – Audit Opinion 
• F – Letter in Respect of delayed VFM work 

 
 

 
Recommendations  
 
The Audit Committee are asked to note the report. 
 

 

Contact officer: Richard Ennis 

Position: Interim Director of Investment and Corporate Services 

Email: Richard.Ennis@westofengland-ca.gov.uk 

Page 53

Agenda Item 9



This page is intentionally left blank



P
age 55



Commercial in confidence

P
age 56



Commercial in confidence

•

•

P
age 57



Commercial in confidence

•

•

P
age 58



Commercial in confidence

•

•

P
age 59



Commercial in confidence

P
age 60



Commercial in confidence

•

•

•

•

•

P
age 61



Commercial in confidence

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

P
age 62



Commercial in confidence

•

•

•

•

•

•

P
age 63



Commercial in confidence

Net pension liability – £13.725m •

•

•









Discount rate 2.80% 2.70% to 2.80% 

Pension increase rate 3.20% 3.00% to 3.50% 

Salary growth 1.5% more than CPI 0.5% to 2.5% p.a. 

above CPI



Life expectancy – Males 

currently aged 45 / 65

24.8 and 23.3 22.2 – 24.8 and 20.7 

– 23.3



Life expectancy –

Females currently aged 

45 / 65

27.4 and 25.4 25.7 – 27.5 and

23.8 – 25.5



P
age 64



Commercial in confidence

P
age 65



Commercial in confidence

P
age 66



Commercial in confidence

P
age 67



Commercial in confidence

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

P
age 68



Commercial in confidence

•

•

•

Specified 

procedures for 

Whole of 

Government 

Accounts 

P
age 69



Commercial in confidence

P
age 70



Commercial in confidence

P
age 71



Commercial in confidence

P
age 72

https://www.grantthornton.co.uk/globalassets/1.-member-firms/united-kingdom/pdf/annual-reports/transparency-report-2021.pdf


P
age 73



Commercial in confidence







P
age 74



Commercial in confidence

✓

✓

P
age 75



Commercial in confidence

✓

✓

P
age 76



Commercial in confidence

✓

✓

P
age 77



Commercial in confidence

P
age 78



Commercial in confidence

P
age 79



Commercial in confidence

Independent auditor's report to the members of The West of England Combined Authority

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements

Opinion on financial statements

We have audited the financial statements of The West of England Combined Authority (the ‘Authority’) for the year ended 31 March 2022, which comprise the Comprehensive Income 

and Expenditure Statement, the Movement in Reserves Statement, the Balance Sheet, the Cash Flow Statement, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of 

significant accounting policies. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of practice on local authority 

accounting in the United Kingdom 2021/22.

In our opinion, the financial statements:

• give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Authority as at 31 March 2022 and of its expenditure and income for the year then ended; 

• have been properly prepared in accordance with the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of practice on local authority accounting in the United Kingdom 2021/22; and 

• have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable law, as required by the Code of Audit Practice (2020) (“the Code of 

Audit Practice”) approved by the Comptroller and Auditor General. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the ‘Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the 

financial statements’ section of our report. We are independent of the Authority in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in 

the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have 

obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Conclusions relating to going concern

We are responsible for concluding on the appropriateness of the Chief Finance Officer’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, 

whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Authority’s abil ity to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a 

material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify the 

auditor’s opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Authority to cease to 

continue as a going concern.

P
age 80



Commercial in confidence

In our evaluation of the Chief Finance Officer’s conclusions, and in accordance with the expectation set out within the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of practice on local authority accounting in 

the United Kingdom 2021/22 that the Authority’s financial statements shall be prepared on a going concern basis, we considered the inherent risks associated with the continuation of 

services provided by the Authority. In doing so we had regard to the guidance provided in Practice Note 10 Audit of financial statements and regularity of public sector bodies in the 

United Kingdom (Revised 2020) on the application of ISA (UK) 570 Going Concern to public sector entities. We assessed the reasonableness of the basis of preparation used by the 

Authority and the Authority’s disclosures over the going concern period.

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on 

the Authority’s ability to continue as a going concern for a period of at least twelve months from when the financial statements are authorised for issue.

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the Chief Finance Officer’s use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is 

appropriate. 

The responsibilities of the Chief Finance Officer with respect to going concern are described in the ‘Responsibilities of the Authority, the Chief Finance Officer and Those Charged with 

Governance for the financial statements’ section of this report.

Other information

The Chief Finance Officer is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the Statement of Accounts, other than the financial 

statements and our auditor’s report thereon. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and , except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our 

report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially 

inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent 

material misstatements, we are required to determine whether there is a material misstatement in the financial statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based 

on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of the other information, we are required to report that fact. 

We have nothing to report in this regard.

Other information we are required to report on by exception under the Code of Audit Practice

Under the Code of Audit Practice published by the National Audit Office in April 2020 on behalf of the Comptroller and Auditor General (the Code of Audit Practice) we are required to 

consider whether the Annual Governance Statement does not comply with ‘delivering good governance in Local Government Framework 2016 Edition’ published by CIPFA and 

SOLACE or is misleading or inconsistent with the information of which we are aware from our audit. We are not required to consider whether the Annual Governance Statement 

addresses all risks and controls or that risks are satisfactorily addressed by internal controls. 

We have nothing to report in this regard.

P
age 81



Commercial in confidence

Opinion on other matters required by the Code of Audit Practice 

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit of the financial statements and our knowledge of the Authority, the other information published together with the 

financial statements in the Statement of Accounts for the financial year for which the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

Under the Code of Audit Practice, we are required to report to you if:

• we issue a report in the public interest under section 24 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 in the course of, or at the conclusion of the audit; or

• we make a written recommendation to the Authority under section 24 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 in the course of, or at the conclusion of the audit; or

• we make an application to the court for a declaration that an item of account is contrary to law under Section 28 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 in the course of, or 

at the conclusion of the audit; or; 

• we issue an advisory notice under Section 29 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 in the course of, or at the conclusion of the audit; or 

• we make an application for judicial review under Section 31 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014, in the course of, or at the conclusion of the audit.

We have nothing to report in respect of the above matters.

Responsibilities of the Authority, the Chief Finance Officer and Those Charged with Governance for the financial statements

As explained in the Statement of Responsibilities set out on page 21, the Authority is required to make arrangements for the proper administration of its financial affairs and to secure 

that one of its officers has the responsibility for the administration of those affairs. In this authority, that officer is the Chief Finance Officer. The Chief Finance Officer is responsible for 

the preparation of the Statement of Accounts, which includes the financial statements, in accordance with proper practices as set out in the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of practice on local 

authority accounting in the United Kingdom 2021/22, for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as the Chief Finance Officer determines is 

necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, the Chief Finance Officer is responsible for assessing the Authority’s ability to cont inue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters 

related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless there is an intention by government that the services provided by the Authority will no longer be 

provided.

The Audit Committee is Those Charged with Governance. Those Charged with Governance are responsible for overseeing the Authority’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an 

auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always 

detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be 

expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

P
age 82



Commercial in confidence

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the Financial Reporting Council’s website at: www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. 

This description forms part of our auditor’s report.

Explanation as to what extent the audit was considered capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design procedures in line with our responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material 

misstatements in respect of irregularities, including fraud. Owing to the inherent limitations of an audit, there is an unavoidable risk that material misstatements in the financial 

statements may not be detected, even though the audit is properly planned and performed in accordance with the ISAs (UK). 

The extent to which our procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud is detailed below: 

• We obtained an understanding of the legal and regulatory frameworks that are applicable to the Authority and determined that the most significant, which are directly relevant to 

specific assertions in the financial statements, are those related to the reporting frameworks (international accounting standards as interpreted and adapted by the 

CIPFA/LASAAC Code of practice on local authority accounting in the United Kingdom 2021/22, The Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014, the Accounts and Audit Regulations 

2015, the Local Government Act 2003 and the Local Government Act 1972.

• We enquired of senior officers and the Audit Committee, concerning the Authority’s policies and procedures relating to:

− the identification, evaluation and compliance with laws and regulations;

− the detection and response to the risks of fraud; and

− the establishment of internal controls to mitigate risks related to fraud or non-compliance with laws and regulations.

• We enquired of senior officers, internal audit and the Audit Committee, whether they were aware of any instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations or whether they 

had any knowledge of actual, suspected or alleged fraud.

• We assessed the susceptibility of the Authority’s financial statements to material misstatement, including how fraud might occur, by evaluating officers’ incentives and 

opportunities for manipulation of the financial statements. This included the evaluation of the risk of management override of controls. We determined that the principal risks were 

in relation to:

− Journals posted by senior officers

− Journals processed by unauthorised users 

− Journals with a blank description 

− Journals with certain key words that could be indicative of inappropriate or fraudulent use 

P
age 83

http://www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities


Commercial in confidence

• Our audit procedures involved:

− evaluation of the design effectiveness of controls that the Chief Finance Officer has in place to prevent and detect fraud;

− journal entry testing, with a focus on large and unusual journals and those posted by senior officers;

− challenging assumptions and judgements made by management in its significant accounting estimates in respect of defined benefit pensions liability valuations;

− assessing the extent of compliance with the relevant laws and regulations as part of our procedures on the related financial statement item.

• These audit procedures were designed to provide reasonable assurance that the financial statements were free from fraud or error. The risk of not detecting a material 

misstatement due to fraud is higher than the risk of not detecting one resulting from error and detecting irregularities that result from fraud is inherently more difficult than 

detecting those that result from error, as fraud may involve collusion, deliberate concealment, forgery or intentional misrepresentations. Also, the further removed non-compliance 

with laws and regulations is from events and transactions reflected in the financial statements, the less likely we would become aware of it.

• The team communications in respect of potential non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations, including the potential for fraud in revenue and expenditure recognition, and 

the significant accounting estimate related to the defined benefit pensions liability valuation.

• Our assessment of the appropriateness of the collective competence and capabilities of the engagement team included consideration of the engagement team's.

− understanding of, and practical experience with audit engagements of a similar nature and complexity through appropriate training and participation

− knowledge of the local government sector

− understanding of the legal and regulatory requirements specific to the Authority including:

− the provisions of the applicable legislation

− guidance issued by CIPFA/LASAAC and SOLACE

− the applicable statutory provisions.

• In assessing the potential risks of material misstatement, we obtained an understanding of:

− the Authority’s operations, including the nature of its income and expenditure and its services and of its objectives and strategies to understand the classes of 

transactions, account balances, expected financial statement disclosures and business risks that may result in risks of material misstatement.

− the Authority's control environment, including the policies and procedures implemented by the Authority to ensure compliance with the requirements of the financial 

reporting framework.

P
age 84



Commercial in confidence

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements – the Authority’s arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and 

effectiveness in its use of resources

Matter on which we are required to report by exception – the Authority’s arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources

Under the Code of Audit Practice, we are required to report to you if, in our opinion, we have not been able to satisfy ourselves that the Authority has made proper arrangements for 

securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for the year ended 31 March 2022.  

Our work on the Authority’s arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources is not yet complete. The outcome of our work will be reported in our 

commentary on the Authority’s arrangements in our Auditor’s Annual Report. If we identify any significant weaknesses in these arrangements, these will be reported by exception in a 

further auditor’s report. We are satisfied that this work does not have a material effect on our opinion on the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2022.

Responsibilities of the Authority

The Authority is responsible for putting in place proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources, to ensure proper stewardship and 

governance, and to review regularly the adequacy and effectiveness of these arrangements.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the review of the Authority’s arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources

We are required under Section 20(1)(c) of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 to be satisfied that the Authority has made proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency 

and effectiveness in its use of resources. We are not required to consider, nor have we considered, whether all aspects of the Authority's arrangements for securing economy, efficiency 

and effectiveness in its use of resources are operating effectively.

We undertake our review in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice, having regard to the guidance issued by the Comptroller and Auditor General in December 2021. This guidance 

sets out the arrangements that fall within the scope of ‘proper arrangements’. When reporting on these arrangements, the Code of Audit Practice requires auditors to structure their 

commentary on arrangements under three specified reporting criteria:

• Financial sustainability: how the Authority plans and manages its resources to ensure it can continue to deliver its services; 

• Governance: how the Authority ensures that it makes informed decisions and properly manages its risks; and 

• Improving economy, efficiency and effectiveness: how the Authority uses information about its costs and performance to improve the way it manages and delivers its services.

We document our understanding of the arrangements the Authority has in place for each of these three specified reporting criteria, gathering sufficient evidence to support our risk 

assessment and commentary in our Auditor’s Annual Report. In undertaking our work, we consider whether there is evidence to suggest that there are significant weaknesses in 

arrangements.

P
age 85



Commercial in confidence

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements – Delay in certification of completion of the audit

We cannot formally conclude the audit and issue an audit certificate for The West of England Combined Authority for the year ended 31 March 2022 in accordance with the 

requirements of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 and the Code of Audit Practice until we have completed:

• our work on the Authority’s arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources and issued our Auditor’s Annual Report’

• the work necessary to issue our Whole of Government Accounts (WGA) Component Assurance statement for the Authority for the year ended 31 March 2022.

We are satisfied that this work does not have a material effect on the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2022.

Use of our report

This report is made solely to the members of the Authority, as a body, in accordance with Part 5 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 and as set out in paragraph 43 of the 

Statement of Responsibilities of Auditors and Audited Bodies published by Public Sector Audit Appointments Limited. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the 

Authority’s members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor's report and for no other purpose. To the fu llest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume 

responsibility to anyone other than the Authority and the Authority's members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Signature:

Jon Roberts, Key Audit Partner

for and on behalf of Grant Thornton UK LLP, Local Auditor

Bristol

Date:

P
age 86



Commercial in confidence

P
age 87



P
age 88



 

 

REPORT TO:  WEST OF ENGLAND COMBINED AUTHORITY 
AUDIT COMMITTEE 

DATE:   17 NOVEMBER 2022 

REPORT TITLE: INTERNAL AUDIT UPDATE 

AUTHOR:   TARIQ RAHMAN – AUDIT WEST (INTERNAL AUDIT) 
 

Purpose of Report  

1 To Update the Committee on Internal Audit work in 2022/23. 

 
Recommendation 

• The Committee are invited to note the areas under review and progress against 
the plan as at 20th October 2022. 

 
 
Background / Issues for Consideration  

2.1 The Committee approved the Annual Audit Plan at its meeting on 28th April 2022. 

 

2.2 The tables in section 2.3 summarise the status of work as either complete, work in 
progress, or scheduled. Through consultation with the Interim Director of Investment 
& Corporate Services, and the Investment Performance Manager the planned LEP 
Governance audit review (Internal Audit Reference 22-007W) has been postponed 
which has enabled additional time to be allocated to the Counter Fraud & Corruption 
work (22-011W) scheduled for Quarter 4. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 89

Agenda Item 10



 

2.3 Summary of Audit Work and Status – 2022/23 

 Planned Work (As recorded in the approved Internal Audit Plan) 

Internal 
Audit Ref 

Area Under Review 

 

Status 

21-011W Concessionary Travel Complete – Limited Assurance  
22-001W City Region Sustainable Transport 

Settlement 
Scheduled Quarter 4 

22-002W Project Management – Future Transport 
Zone 

Work In Progress 

22-003W Grant Audit Certification – Growth Hub Complete – 23rd May 2022 
22-004W Climate Emergency Action Plan Work In Progress 
22-005W Performance Management Work In Progress 
22-006W Reasonable Assurance Model – 

Corporate Governance 
Scheduled Quarter 4 

22-007W LEP - Governance Days reallocated to Counter 
Fraud & Corruption Review 

22-008W Audit Follow-Up – Core Financial Systems 
– Data Analytics 

Work In Progress 

 Audit Follow-Up – Counter Fraud & 
Corruption 

Scheduled Quarter 4 

 Audit Follow-Up – IT Audit (Cyber 
Security) 

Work In Progress 

 Audit Follow-Up – Project / Programme 
Management 

Work In Progress 

22-009W Payroll  Work In Progress  
22-010W IT Audit – Cyber Security Scheduled for Q4 
22-011W Counter Fraud & Corruption – National 

Fraud Initiative & Declaration of Interests 
Scheduled for Q4 

22-012W  Grant Audit Certification – Future 
Transport Zone 

Complete – 5th October 2022 

 

 Unplanned Work 

22-201W Business Growth Grants Complete – Substantial 
Assurance 

22-204W Grant Audit Certification – Peer Networks Complete – 11th May 2022  
22-205W Grant Audit Certification – DfT Bus 

Subsidy Grant 
Complete – 5th October 2022  

22-206W Grant Audit Certification – DfT Covid Bus 
Subsidy Grant 

Complete – 5th October 2022 

 

 

2.4 Internal Audit Work - Review of Compliance with Funding Grant Terms & Conditions 

 The Combined Authority receives central government grant funding and each grant 
has terms and condition that have to be complied with and that includes obtaining an 
independent auditor / accountant review of funding claims submitted and an 
examination of a sample of grant claim items to verify that the expenditure is eligible. 

 
 

Page 90



Internal Audit has carried out five grant certifications: 
Funding  
Description 

Funding 
Body 

Grant Offer 
Letter Date 

Funding 
Claimed 
(£) 
2021/22 

Date Grant 
Auditors 
Letter 
Required 

Date Grant 
Auditors 
Letter 
Despatched 

Core Growth 
Hub  
(22-003W) 

Business, 
Energy & 
Industrial 
Strategy 

4th June 
2021 

700,000 31st May 
2022 

23rd May 
2022 

Future 
Transport 
Zone 
(22-012W) 

Department 
for 
Transport 

9th March 
2022 

1,945,801 29th April 
2022 

5th October 
2022 

Peer 
Networks 
(22-204W) 

Business, 
Energy & 
Industrial 
Strategy 

26th 
February 
2021 

99,850 Not specified 
in Offer 
Letter 

11th May 
2022 

DfT Bus 
Subsidy Grant 
(22-205W) 

Department 
for 
Transport 

15th July 
2022? 

1,147,621 30th 
September 
2022 

5th October 
2022 

DfT Covid 
Bus Subsidy 
Grant 
(22-206W) 

Department 
for 
Transport 

19th 
January 
2020 
(Tranche 1) 
27th Oct 
2021 
(Tranche 8) 

4,870,107 Not specified 
in offer letter 
-  but email 
request 
received on 
6th May 2022 

5th October 
2022 

 

The Internal Audit work carried out on the 5 grant areas only found a minor error related 
to Peer Networks (22-204W). An adjustment of £7,528 was made to the total figure of 
£107,378 which was to be claimed (as recorded on the Financial System Report). 

 

2.5 Two out of the five ‘grant certification’ pieces of work were planned, i.e. included in the 
Internal Audit Plan presented to Audit Committee in April. The remaining three were 
‘unplanned’ and Audit West had to respond to short notice requests to carry out the 
work. Internal Audit will liaise with the Director of Investment & Corporate Services and 
Head of Finance to ensure all future grant certification work is programmed / planned 
which will help ensure the work is completed and respective letters despatched prior 
to the specified date as recorded in the Funding Body Grant Offer Letter. 

 

2.6 A further piece of ‘unplanned’ work was requested - an audit review of ‘Business 
Growth Grants’ (22-201W). The audit work (reviewing a 10% sample of grant 
applications – 18 out of 178) resulted in an Audit Report which concluded with an audit 
opinion that the Business Growth Grants had been appropriately and proportionately 
verified, validated, and approved in line with scheme requirements and that these 
grants had been paid accurately and timely to businesses. 

 
2.7 Internal Audit Work – Audit Assurance Reviews / Reports 

It is adopted practice to report to Audit Committee if any Audit Reports are assigned a 
‘Limited Assurance’ (Level 2) or ‘No Assurance’ (Level 1) rating. The 2021/22 Audit 
Review of Concessionary Travel was issued as a ‘Final Audit Report’ in July 2022 and 
a Level 2 ‘Limited Assurance’ rating was assigned. The full report is attached – 
Appendix 1. 

Page 91



2.8 Background to Concessionary Travel 

The Diamond Travelcard is the Concessionary Travel scheme operating across the 
West of England Authorities and allows cross-border travel on buses for eligible 
residents. WECA and North Somerset Council (NSC) are the official Travel 
Concession Authorities with responsibilities for administering the scheme in the 
respective areas, which includes calculating the reimbursements due to operators and 
making the payments. Management of the scheme across the West of England was 
previously undertaken by South Gloucestershire Council on behalf of the four West of 
England authorities, who at the time were each Travel Concession Authorities. In 2017 
WECA took on the Travel Concession Authority role from its three constituent 
authorities, and South Gloucestershire Council continued to manage the scheme on 
behalf of WECA and NSC. In April 2020, WECA took over this scheme management 
role, on behalf of itself and NSC. The three constituent authorities continue to issue 
passes to residents in their areas on behalf of WECA, and NSC issues in its area. 

 

2.9 The Internal Audit Review – Concessionary Travel 

There were four ‘Key Control Objectives’ recorded in the Concessionary Travel 
Report’s Assurance Summary which were assessed to help form an overall opinion. 
The Assurance Summary as recorded in the Report is recorded below: 

 

Assessment Key Control Objectives  
Poor 1. To ensure clarity and formal acceptance of responsibilities of WECA, 

North Somerset and constituent authorities for administration of 
Concessionary Travel. 

 

Poor 2. To ensure calculation of Concessionary Travel reimbursement 
payments to bus companies is reasonable, consistent, subject to 
scrutiny and approval (transparency), and in line with government 
guidance. 

 

Good 3. To ensure payments processed for Concessionary Travel are 
accurate, timely and in line with notices issued to bus companies. 

 

Poor 4. To ensure that constituent authorities are issuing Concessionary 
Travel Passes in line with WECA priorities and government rules. 

 

 

 2.10 The Audit Report Summary Findings recorded that over the last couple of years 
through the period of the Covid Pandemic the focus of the service has been on 
supporting operators and processing timely payments. The report did highlight 
evidence of improvements. 

 

2.11  The three ‘High Risk’ Weaknesses recorded were: 

1) The Agreements setting out the roles and responsibilities of WECA and the West of 
England Local Authorities in managing the scheme administration and issuing travel 
passes expired in 2020. 

2) The method for calculating the reimbursement rate has not been consistently 

Page 92



applied, although it should be noted that due to the Covid-19 pandemic the latest 
formal calculations were carried out prior to the service being brought in-house. 

3) Calculations of reimbursement rates for bus operators are not being carried out on 
an annual basis as per requirements in the Department for Transport (DfT) Statutory 
Instrument. 

The ‘Management Response’ to the Audit Report was positive and all 
recommendations were agreed to be implemented. The West of England Combined 
Authority officers have already started to progress implementation of the 
recommendations for the agreed due date of December 2022.  A ‘Follow-Up’ of the 
audit will be carried out in Quarter 4 of 2022/23 and the outcomes will be reported to 
this Committee. 

  
Consultation 

3 Report and work undertaken is consulted with the Director of Investment & Corporate 
Services 

 

Other Options Considered 

4 Not applicable 

 

Risk Management/Assessment 

5 The internal audit plan is drawn up on a risk basis, using the Reasonable Assurance 
Model. 

 
Public Sector Equality Duties 

6 Embedded within the audit process is consideration of compliance with statutory 
guidance and regulations which includes those relating to equality and diversity. 

 

Finance Implications, including economic impact assessment where appropriate: 

7 No direct implications – Cost of service within existing budgets. 

 
Legal Implications: 

8 No direct implications 

 

Climate Change Implications 

9 No direct implications. However, Climate Change has been considered as a key risk 
for the Authority which has been identified during the Internal Audit Reasonable 
Assurance Model process resulting in an audit being included in the 2022-23 Annual 
Internal Audit Plan. 

 

Page 93



 

Land/property Implications 

10 No direct implications. 

 

Human Resources Implications: 

11 No direct implications. 

 

Appendices: 

Appendix 1 – Concessionary Travel Internal Audit Report 

 

Background papers: 

None 

 

West of England Combined Authority Contact:  
Any person seeking background information relating to this item should seek the assistance 
of the contact officer for the meeting who is Ian Hird / Tim Milgate on 0117 332 1486; or by 
writing to West of England Combined Authority, 3 Rivergate, Temple Quay, Bristol BS1 
6EW; email: democratic.services@westofengland-ca.gov.uk  

 

Page 94

mailto:democratic.services@westofengland-ca.gov.uk


 

 

Appendix1 
 
 

Final Internal Audit Report   
Confidential 

 

Concessionary Travel – Key 
Controls Review 

 

July 2022 

Page 95



Final Internal Audit Report – Concessionary Travel – 21-011W 

 

2 

Executive Summary 
 
Audit Opinion: 
 

Assurance Rating Opinion  

Level 5 
Level 5 - Full Assurance: The systems of internal control are excellent with a number 
of strengths; no weaknesses have been identified and full assurance can be provided 
over all the areas detailed in the Assurance Summary. 

 

Level 4 
Level 4 - Substantial Assurance: The systems of internal control are good with a 
number of strengths evident and substantial assurance can be provided as detailed 
within the Assurance Summary. 

 

Level 3 

Level 3 - Reasonable Assurance: The systems of internal control are satisfactory and 
reasonable assurance can be provided. However, there are a number of areas 
detailed in the Assurance Summary which require improvement and specific 
recommendations are detailed in the Action Plan. 

 

Level 2 

Level 2 - Limited Assurance: The systems of internal control are weak and only 
limited assurance can be provided over the areas detailed in the Assurance 
Summary. Prompt action is necessary to improve the current situation and 
reduce the levels of risk exposure. 

 

Level 1 

Level 1 - No Assurance: The systems of internal control are poor; no assurance can 
be provided and there are fundamental weaknesses in the areas detailed in the 
Assurance Summary. Urgent action is necessary to reduce the high levels of risk 
exposure. 

 

 
Assurance Summary: 
 

Assessment Key Control Objectives  
Poor 1. To ensure clarity and formal acceptance of responsibilities of WECA, North 

Somerset and constituent authorities for administration of Concessionary Travel. 
 

Poor 2. To ensure calculation of Concessionary Travel reimbursement payments to bus 
companies is reasonable, consistent, subject to scrutiny and approval (transparency), 
and in line with government guidance. 

 

Good 3. To ensure payments processed for Concessionary Travel are accurate, timely and 
in line with notices issued to bus companies. 

 

Poor 4. To ensure that constituent authorities are issuing Concessionary Travel Passes in 
line with WECA priorities and government rules. 

 

 
 

Page 96



Final Internal Audit Report – Concessionary Travel – 21-011W 

 

3 

Detailed Report 
 
Opinion: 

 
Internal Audit has undertaken a review of the risks and controls related to Concessionary Travel and assessed the 
framework of internal control at level 2. A total of 6 audit recommendations are detailed in the Action Plan. 
 
Scope and Objectives: 
 
The scope and objectives of our audit were set out in the Audit Brief and a summary of our opinion against each of the 
specific areas reviewed has been detailed in the Assurance Summary section above. The review focussed on the high- 
level controls in operation across the service. 

 
 

 
 

Page 97



Final Internal Audit Report – Concessionary Travel – 21-011W 

 

4 

Context & Audit Comment: 

 
As part of the West of England Combined Authority (WECA) 2021/22 Annual Audit Plan, an audit review has been 
carried out on the adequacy of the framework of risk controls in relation to Concessionary Travel. 
 
Background 
 
The English National Concessionary Travel Scheme (ENCTS) guarantees free travel for people over state pension age 
and people with an eligible disability on all eligible local bus services anywhere in England on weekends and from 09:30 
to 23:00 on weekdays. Local Authorities can provide further concessions in accordance with their local priorities. Bus 
operators are entitled to reimbursement for journeys undertaken by residents under the scheme to account for lost 
revenue and additional costs. 
 
The Diamond Travelcard is the Concessionary Travel scheme operating across the West of England Authorities and 
allows cross-border travel on buses for eligible residents. WECA and North Somerset Council (NSC) are the official 
Travel Concession Authorities with responsibilities for administering the scheme in the respective areas, which includes 
calculating the reimbursements due to operators and making the payments. Management of the scheme across the 
West of England was previously undertaken by South Gloucestershire Council on behalf of the four West of England 
authorities, who at the time were each Travel Concession Authorities. In 2017 WECA took on the Travel Concession 
Authority role from its three constituent authorities, and South Gloucestershire Council continued to manage the scheme 
on behalf of WECA and NSC. In April 2020, WECA took over this scheme management role, on behalf of itself and 
NSC. The three constituent authorities continue to issue passes to residents in their areas on behalf of WECA, and NSC 
issues in its area. 
 
Audit Summary Findings 
 
WECA’s management and administration of the Concessionary Travel Scheme requires improvement in several areas. 
The service has had to focus its efforts across the last two years on supporting operators by maintaining timely 
payments in line with temporary government guidance during the Covid-19 period. The pandemic hampered onboarding 
arrangements which took place during the first national lockdown in 2020, which meant that maintenance of day-to-day 
service has taken priority over reviewing and updating the management and administrative processes and the related 
key internal controls. In particular, there are no longer formal agreements in place between WECA and the four West of 
England Local Authorities since the previous Concessionary Travel agreements expired in 2020. Record-keeping has 
also suffered, with a lack of formal procedures and guidance notes outlining the complex reimbursement rate 
calculations, and poor audit trails evidencing previous payment calculations. WECA has not maintained formal oversight 
of the local authorities that are issuing passes on its behalf and there aren’t any formal mechanisms in place for 
ensuring rules are applied consistently. 
 
Covid-19 payment guidance is to be phased out during 2022/23, which provides an opportunity for a full review of the 
management of the service and the chance to implement an improved system of internal controls to manage risks as 
the service returns to normal. While many of the systems reviewed as part of the audit require improvement, there is 
evidence of improvements already underway, with the agreements between WECA and the local authorities having 
been drafted, and new system / process notes being compiled. It is also positive to note that operators continued to 
receive payments throughout the pandemic, along with notification of their reimbursement rates and we are aware there 
was only one formal challenge to the rate – subsequently withdrawn. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 98



Final Internal Audit Report – Concessionary Travel – 21-011W 

 

5 

We identified the following strengths: 

 
  Passenger trip data has continued to be received and held on file throughout the pandemic, as a record of 

passenger numbers, supporting current and future calculations. 
 

  The correct reimbursement rates are used in calculations for monthly payments, in line with notices issued to 
operators. 

 
We identified the following weaknesses: 

 
  The Agreements setting out the roles and responsibilities of WECA and the West of England Local Authorities in 

managing the scheme administration and issuing travel passes expired in 2020. 
 
  Although some basic procedural notes are in place or in the process of being updated, they do not currently 

include other key processes such as calculation of reimbursement factors and oversight of constituent authorities 
issuing travel passes on WECA’s behalf. 

 
  The method for calculating the reimbursement rate has not been consistently applied, although it should be noted 

that due to the Covid-19 pandemic the latest formal calculations were carried out prior to the service being 
brought in-house. 

 
  Calculations of reimbursement rates for bus operators are not being carried out on an annual basis as per 

requirements in the Department for Transport (DfT) Statutory Instrument. 
 
  There is no formal process for sign off / approval of new reimbursement rate calculations. 

 
  There is little formal oversight by WECA of the constituent authorities which are issuing passes on behalf of 

WECA. 
 
 

 

 
Audit & Risk Personnel: 
 
Lead Auditor: 
 
Pete Charles 
 
Acknowledgements: 
 
Sincere thanks to the Bus Improvement Manager, Senior Transport Operators Officer, Transport Operations Officer and 
all service staff for their help and assistance provided throughout the audit review. 

 
 

Page 99



Final Internal Audit Report – Concessionary Travel – 21-011W 

6 

 
ACTION PLAN 

 
HIGH RISK EXPOSURE 

 Weakness Found Implication or Potential Risk Recommendation(s) Responsible Officer 
Management Comments 

Implementation Date 

H1 Contracts and agreements 
The Managing Authority Agreement for 
'day to day' management of the 
scheme has expired and although 
WECA has taken back the 
management responsibility from South 
Gloucestershire Council, it continues to 
provide management duties for North 
Somerset Council without a formal 
agreement in place. 
 
In addition, the Inter Authority Delivery 
Agreement for the constituent 
authorities to act as agents to assess 
eligibility and issue travel passes in 
their areas expired in March 2020, 
although the local authorities continue 
to carry out this role. 
 
It is acknowledged that the agreements 
were updated in 2020 but were not 
ultimately signed, likely due to the 
pressure and impacts of Covid-19. 

Duties may be carried out by parties 
without a solid legal basis, leading to 
potential disputes and legal challenges. 

A Managing Authority Agreement should be 
drawn up between North Somerset Council 
and WECA in order to detail the duties to be 
undertaken by WECA in the day-to-day 
management of the scheme on behalf of itself 
and North Somerset Council. The Agreement 
should be agreed and signed by WECA and 
North Somerset Council. 
 
A new Inter Authority Delivery Agreement 
should be drawn up and signed by all parties, 
outlining the responsibilities of the constituent 
authorities as agents for administering travel 
passes on behalf of WECA. 

Revised agreements are being 
drafted and will be submitted for 
legal input and discussion with the 
parties involved.  
 
Responsible officer: Andy Strong 
Completion date: 31 December 
2022. 

 

  

P
age 100



Final Internal Audit Report – Concessionary Travel – 21-011W 

7 

HIGH RISK EXPOSURE 
 Weakness Found Implication or Potential Risk Recommendation(s) Responsible Officer 

Management Comments 
Implementation Date 

H2 Reimbursement Rate Calculation 
Method 
The method for calculating the 
reimbursement rate is not consistently 
applied, although it should be noted 
that due to the Covid-19 that the latest 
formal calculations were carried out 
prior to the service being brought in-
house. For one of the four operators 
reviewed there was not a formal record 
on file to show how the current figures 
were calculated. 

Incorrect payments may be paid to 
operators, leading to over- or 
underspends. Calculations may not be 
adjusted timely to take into account 
changes in costs. 

A standard model should be adopted for 
reimbursement rate calculations and reviewed 
on an annual basis to ensure it complies with 
government guidance and WECA priorities 
and resources. This method should be 
formally documented and approved by 
Management, with version control recorded 
on the document. 
 
Evidence of the payment calculations made 
should be retained on file for audit and 
reference purposes. 

Agreed 
 
Responsible officer: Andy Strong 
Completion date: 30 November 
2022. 

 

  

P
age 101



Final Internal Audit Report – Concessionary Travel – 21-011W 

8 

HIGH RISK EXPOSURE 
 Weakness Found Implication or Potential Risk Recommendation(s) Responsible Officer 

Management Comments 
Implementation Date 

H3 Annual review of reimbursement 
calculations 
Formal calculations of reimbursement 
rates for bus operators are not being 
carried out on an annual basis as 
required by the DfT Statutory 
Instrument. Based on a sample of four 
calculations it was noted that there was 
not any evidence of a formal calculation 
since 2018/19 for two operators, 
2017/18 for one operator and none at 
all for the fourth operator in the sample. 
It should be noted that operators 
continue to receive formal letters from 
WECA on an annual basis with the 
reimbursement rates and there have 
been few challenges which indicates 
that operators are generally satisfied 
with the rates in use. 

Reimbursements may become out of 
line with operator costs, resulting in 
under or over-payments. WECA may 
be subject to additional challenge from 
operators. 

WECA should make proportionate provision 
to review the calculations made in accordance 
with the Authority's standard method at least 
once in each period of 12 months that the 
relevant reimbursement arrangement is in 
operation. 
 
Evidence of review of annual calculations 
should be recorded on file for future 
reference. 
 

Agreed – this will take the form of 
an annual submission of basic 
data from operators to allow a 
review to be carried out without 
placing a disproportionately 
onerous burden on them. 
 
Responsible officer: Andy Strong 
Completion date: 31 December 
2022. 

 

  

P
age 102



Final Internal Audit Report – Concessionary Travel – 21-011W 

9 

MEDIUM RISK EXPOSURE 
 Weakness Found Implication or Potential Risk Recommendation(s) Responsible Officer 

Management Comments 
Implementation Date 

M1 Procedural notes 
Although some basic procedural notes 
are in place, (covering the 
reimbursement process for bus 
operators), or in the process of being 
updated they do not currently include 
other key processes such as 
calculation of reimbursement rates, or 
interaction and oversight of constituent 
authorities for issuing travel passes. 
The process notes that were in place 
were not version controlled. 

Procedures may be applied 
inconsistently leading to incorrect 
reimbursement rates and financial loss, 
or additional costs due to challenges by 
operators. 

The procedural notes for reimbursing bus 
operators should be updated and finalised to 
cover existing processes. Additional 
procedural guidance should be drawn up to 
cover other key processes, including but not 
limited to: 

 Calculation of reimbursement factors 
 Oversight and interaction with 

constituent authorities for issuing 
travel passes 

 
These documents should be subject to annual 
review with recorded version control. 

Agreed. 
Responsible officer: Andy Strong 
Completion date: 31 December 
2022. 

 

  

P
age 103



Final Internal Audit Report – Concessionary Travel – 21-011W 

10 

MEDIUM RISK EXPOSURE 
 Weakness Found Implication or Potential Risk Recommendation(s) Responsible Officer 

Management Comments 
Implementation Date 

M2 Approval of Reimbursement Rate 
Calculations 
There is no formal process for sign-off / 
approval of new reimbursement rate 
calculations. 

Calculations could be created with 
errors or inconsistencies, leading to 
over- or under-payments to operators. 
There is also an increased risk of 
corruption or collusion with operators 
leading to financial loss and 
reputational damage. 

Reimbursement rate calculations should be 
approved and signed off by management 
before being communicated to operators. 
Evidence of sign off should be recorded on 
file for audit purposes – providing an audit trail 
and evidence of management check 
(accountability). 

Agreed 
Responsible officer: Andy Strong 
Completion date: 31 August 2022 

 

  P
age 104



Final Internal Audit Report – Concessionary Travel – 21-011W 

11 

MEDIUM RISK EXPOSURE 
 Weakness Found Implication or Potential Risk Recommendation(s) Responsible Officer 

Management Comments 
Implementation Date 

M3 Oversight of Issuing Passes 
There is little formal oversight by 
WECA of the constituent authorities 
which are issuing passes on behalf of 
WECA. In particular: 

 No information of performance 
is provided (e.g. passes 
issued, time taken to process 
applications) 

 Monthly information is not 
provided on stock levels, as 
required by the DfT. 

 No verification checks are 
undertaken to verify that the 
Agents are issuing passes in 
line with their responsibilities 

 There are no regular meetings 
with individual authorities or as 
a group to ensure consistency 
of service across the 
constituent authorities. 

Procedures may be applied 
inconsistently leading to incorrect 
reimbursement rates and financial loss, 
or additional costs and administration 
due to challenges by operators. 
 

WECA should implement measures to ensure 
appropriate oversight of issuing of 
Concessionary Travel passes, in line with 
WECA's obligations as the Concessionary 
Travel Authority for the region, including but 
not limited to: 

 Obtaining monthly information on 
performance, such as stock levels (as 
required by the DfT) and passes 
issued. 

 Undertaking verification spot checks 
or audits on the issuing of passes by 
the Local Authorities. In respect of 
online issues, this will involve liaison 
with the software provider. 

 Host regular meetings with Officers 
responsible for issuing travel passes 
at the constituent authorities to 
encourage collaboration, 
transparency and sharing of 
good/best practice. 

 

Agreed  
Responsible officer: Andy Strong 
Completion date: 30 September 
2022 
 
 
 
 

 

 

P
age 105



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Reference Topic Audit recommendations
Specified 

completion date
Progress

Change to expected 
completion date

H1
Contracts and 
agreements

A Managing Authority Agreement should be drawn up between North Somerset 
Council and WECA in order to detail the duties to be undertaken by WECA in the 
day‐to‐day management of the scheme on behalf of itself and North Somerset 
Council. The Agreement should be agreed and signed by WECA and North 
Somerset Council.

A new Inter Authority Delivery Agreement should be drawn up and signed by all 
parties, outlining the responsibilities of the constituent authorities as agents for 
administering travel passes on behalf of WECA.

31‐Dec‐22

The Managing Authority Agreement has been drafted and shared with North Somerset 
Council. On track for MAA to be completed by end of December. A new Inter Authority 
Delivery Agreement (Travelcard Issuing Agreement) is currently being drafted and will be 
shared with the WECA constituent authorities by the end of November. On track for 
completion by end of December. No change.

H2
Reimbursement 
Rate Calculation 

Method

A standard model should be adopted for reimbursement rate calculations and 
reviewed on an annual basis to ensure it complies with government guidance and 
WECA priorities and resources. This method should be formally documented and 
approved by management, with version control recorded on the document.

Evidence of the payment calculations made should be retained on file for audit 
and reference purposes.

30‐Nov‐22

The previous reimbursement method is currently being updated using data from bus 
operators. The method of calculating reimbursement is derived from the DfT model which is 
being revised and reissued by DfT by end of November. Currently on track for the revised 
model to be approved by management alongside the new rate calculation.
Evidence used to calculate rate, including base data provided by operators, is being retained 
within the CA records.

No change.

H3
Annual review of 
reimbursement 
calculations

WECA should make proportionate provision to review the calculations made in 
accordance with the Authority's standard method at least once in each period of 
12 months that the relevant reimbursement arrangement is in operation.

Evidence of review of annual calculations should be recorded on file for future 
reference.

31‐Dec‐22

The new rate calculation will be valid for 12 months from April 2023. Resources are already 
in place to review the rate in late 2023 for the 2024/25 financial year. Evidence used to 
calculate rate is being retained within CA records.

No change.

M1 Procedural notes

The procedural notes for reimbursing bus operators should be updated and 
finalised to cover existing processes. Additional procedural guidance should be 
drawn up to cover other key processes, including but not limited to:
‐ Calculation of reimbursement factors
‐ Oversight and interaction with constituent authorities for issuing travel passes

These documents should be subject to annual review with recorded version 
control.

31‐Dec‐22

Preliminary work has been done in terms of collating core information but this needs to be 
completed and then signed off. This will be accomplished in good time before the deadline.

No change.

M2
Approval of 

Reimbursement 
Rate Calculations

Reimbursement rate calculations should be approved and signed off by 
management before being communicated to operators.

Evidence of sign off should be recorded on file for audit purposes – providing an 
audit trail and evidence of management check (accountability).

31‐Aug‐22

A provisional process has been outlined and will be submitted to management for approval 
before end of November. This will involve sign off by management within both the CA and 
NSC.

Records of all sign‐offs will be retained.

Agree new process by 
mid‐Nov and then first 
actual set of sign‐offs 
to occur 30‐Nov‐22.

M3
Oversight of Issuing 

Passes

WECA should implement measures to ensure appropriate oversight of issuing of 
Concessionary Travel passes, in line with WECA's obligations as the Concessionary 
Travel Authority for the region, including but not limited to:
‐ Obtaining monthly information on performance, such as stock levels (as 
required by the DfT) and passes issued.
‐ Undertaking verification spot checks or audits on the issuing of passes by the 
Local Authorities. In respect of online issues, this will involve liaison with the 
software provider.
‐ Host regular meetings with officers responsible for issuing travel passes at the 
constituent authorities to encourage collaboration, transparency and sharing of 
good/best practice.

30‐Sep‐22

WECA and LA officers have met to review current practice. Clarification is being sought from 
the DfT on methodology. Follow up meetings have been arranged. Information is being 
sought from the LAs on customer satisfaction with the card issuing process.
These new arrangements will be confirmed within the Travelcard Issuing Agreement (see 
H1).

Completed (except for 
formalisation of 
processes within 
agreement as per H1).

P
age 107



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	6 Minutes
	8 Consideration of the recommendations of the Authority's External Auditors
	Auditor's Report on Governance Matters

	9 The Audit Findings for the West of England Combined Authority
	WECA Audit Findings Report 2021-22 - TO AUDIT COMMITTEE

	10 Internal Audit Update
	WECAAC_IAUpdateNov22APP1
	Concessionary Travel audit actions update


